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Curt B. Jam son, Atlanta, Ceorgia, for the respondent

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a proposal for assessnment of civil
penalty filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to section 110(a) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 820(a), charging the respondent with one all eged
viol ation issued pursuant to the Act and the inplenmenting
mandat ory safety and health standards. Respondent filed a tinmely
answer in the proceedings and a hearing regarding the proposa
was held on April 14, 1981, in Macon, Ceorgia, and the parties
appeared and participated therein. Although given an opportunity
to file post-hearing briefs and/ or proposed findings and
concl usions, the parties declined to do so.

| ssues

The principal issues presented in this proceeding are (1)
whet her respondent has viol ated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenting regulation as alleged in the proposal for assessnent
of civil penalty filed in this proceeding, and, if so, (2) the
appropriate civil penalty that should be assessed agai nst the
respondent for the alleged violation based upon the criteria set
forth in section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised by
the parties are identified and di sposed of in the course of this
deci si on.

In determ ning the amount of a civil penalty assessnent,
section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of the foll ow ng
criteria:
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(1) the operator's history of previous violations, (2) the
appropri ateness of such penalty to the size of the business of
the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business, (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, P.L.
95-164, 30 U.S.C. 0801 et seq.

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U S. C. [820(i).
3. Commission Rules, 29 CFR 2700.1 et seq.
Sti pul ations

The parties stipulated that respondent is subject to the
Act, that it engages in mning activities, the products of which
affect inter-state commerce, that it enploys approxi mately 24
i ndividual s at the subject mne, and that the m ne operates
one-to-two shifts, 5-1/2 days a week. Respondent’'s history of
prior violations is reflected in exhibit P-1, an MSHA computer
printout reflecting 18 paid citations for a 24-nonth period
Novenmber 20, 1978 through Novenmber 19, 1980 (Tr. 6-10).

Di scussi on

Citation No. 099125, 6/12/80, alleges a violation of 30 CFR
56.11-27, and the condition or practice described by the
i nspector is as follows (exhibit P-2).

The allon cycl one was not provided with a work platform
or handrails. Men had to stand on single wooden

boards, when work was perforned. Persons could fal
about 50 feet to to the ground.

The inspector established the initial abatenent tine as July
21, 1980, but extended this date to Septenmber 1, 1980, for the
foll owi ng reason (exhibit P-2):

The conpany is presently deciding whether to build a
platformon the allon cyclone or to build a new
installation. Safety belts and |ines are to be worn at
all times on the cyclone until this construction is
conpl et ed.

The citation was term nated on Septenber 10, 1980, when
anot her MSHA i nspector found that conpliance had been net, and
the justification
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for the termnation is described as follows (exhibit P-2): "A
wal kway with handrails were installed around the top of the Allon
Cycl one area"

MSHA | nspector Steve Manis confirnmed that he conducted an
i nspection of respondent’'s mine on June 12, 1980, and that he was
acconpani ed on his inspection rounds by Larry Jam son, the nine
manager. Inspector Manis also confirmed that he issued the
citation in question after determning that the Allon cyclone did
not have work platforns installed where enpl oyees were required
to performwrk. M. Mnis identified three photographs taken by
a fellow inspector at the cyclone location in question, and he
identified three areas or "levels" of the structure which
concerned him (exhibit P-3). He estimated the height fromthe
top of each level to the ground level to be 50 feet fromthe
extreme top level, 40 feet fromthe second level, and 30 to 35
feet fromthe third level (Tr. 12-21)

I nspector Manis testified that the purpose of the cyclone is
to separate the fine and coarse particles being punped into it by
wat er pressure. He determned that enpl oyees were required to
performwork on the cyclone structure after being told that this
was the case by an enpl oyee, and he al so observed the presence of
a fixed, permanent netal |adder attached to the structure, as
wel | as several wooden 2 x 6 boards which were in place at the
three levels. He also observed that the rungs of the netal
| adder were worn and shiny, which indicated to himthat the
| adder was used rather frequently. Al of these factors |led him
to concl ude that enpl oyees were required to clinmb onto to the
cyclone structure to performwork on a regular basis (Tr. 21-22).

M. Manis testified that he was told that enpl oyees had
ocassion to clinb the cyclone | adder once or twice a week to go
to the top of the cyclone. He was also told that if there is a
ot of work to performon the cycl one sonmeone may have to stay at
the top all day. In such situations, he would not accept the use
of a safety belt as conpliance, but would require the use of a
work platform (Tr. 62-63). Although he observed no one on the
| adder or the cyclone on the day of his inspection, he was told
that the work performed included the changi ng of the position of
the cycl one apex as well as the changing of piping (Tr. 64). He
al so stated that he was told that the purpose of the boards was
to facilitate soneone standing on themwhile perform ng work (Tr.
64) .

On cross-exam nation, Inspector Manis confirnmed that he
i ssued the citation because he believed the entire cycl one
| ocati on where boards were installed for the purpose of
facilitating access to the areas described were not approved
working platforms (Tr. 23). In further explanation as to why he
i ssued the citation in question, even though he had issued
another citation at the same time for failure by the respondent
to provide safety belts on the cyclone, M. Manis stated that he
could have issued three separate work platformcitations for each
of the levels which were not provided with platforms. He also
expl ai ned
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that he did not expect the respondent to construct a platform at
every area on the cyclone where an enpl oyee had to reach for the
pur pose of performng work. As an exanple, he cited the cycl one
pi peline where a safety belt would suffice because a pl atform
could not be constructed around the pipeline. However, during
the construction of the platformand while it was being
installed, a safety belt would have to be worn if an enpl oyee had
to clinb the structure to performsone work (Tr. 36-37).

Respondent' s Testi nony and Evi dence

Respondent presented no testinmony fromany w tnesses with
respect to the citation. However, respondent's representative
Curt Jam son was given a full opportunity to cross-exam ne the
i nspector, as well as make an argunment in defense of the
citation. Wth respect to the mddle |evel cyclone |ocation, M.
Jam son asserted that it was used only to store a wench and
other tools used by enpl oyees while they were standing on the
| ower |evel boards. The mid-Ilevel board was only used to
facilitate the placing of a wench, and inspector Mnis confirnmed
t hat he observed such a wench there and did not dispute M.

Jam son's assertion that no enpl oyee stood on the m d-1|evel board
to perform any mai ntenance or work. M. Jam son conceded that an
enpl oyee is required to stand on the | ower |evel board "every
coupl e of weeks" to unbolt and replace a discharge portion of the
cyclone with a wench (Tr. 65-67). In addition, M. Jam son
conceded that sonmeone may have ocassion to go to the | ower |evel
of the cyclone "a couple of tines a week" (Tr. 67).

Wth regard to the top portion of the cyclone, M. Jam son
asserted that the only reason one would have to go there would be
to repair a leak in the pipe. In his view, this was not a
regul ar chore, that there are nonths at a tine when no one goes
to the top level, and that it is not a daily occurrence (Tr. 67).
M. Jam son al so asserted that abatenent was achi eved by
installing a work platformat the top and | ower levels of the
cyclone (Tr. 69). It was his view that any danger which nay have
exi sted, existed at the top portion of the cyclone and not the
[ ower portion (Tr. 69).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

In this case, respondent is charged with one violation of
the provisions of mandatory safety standard 30 CFR 56. 11-27,
whi ch provides as foll ows:

Scaffol ds and working platfornms shall be of substanti al
construction and provided with handrails and mai ntai ned
in good condition. Floor boards shall be laid properly
and the scaffolds and working platfornms shall not be
over| oaded. Working platforns shall be provided wth

t oeguar ds when necessary.
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During the course of the hearing, respondent verified the fact
that I nspector Manis issued a second citation (No. 99126) on June
12, 1980, at precisely the same tinme as the one in issue and that
it was issued for failure by the respondent to have a safety belt
or line on the cyclone for use of enployees who had to clinb onto
it to performwork, as required by section 56.15-51. Respondent
produced a copy of M. Manis' narrative statement executed at the
time he issued the safety belt citation which reflects that
respondent may have been aware of the requirenments for safety
belts through a prior inspection conducted at the mne site (Tr.
27-29).

Inits answer filed on February 17, 1981, to the
petitioner's proposal for assessment of civil penalty, respondent
asserts that the citation in question is essentially a
duplication of the safety belt citation issued by |Inspector
Mani s. Respondent paid the penalty assessnent for that citation,
and since the sanme condition or practice is described in both
citations, respondent believes it is being unduly penalized for
the sane viol ati on. Respondent al so maintains that the fact the
supposedl y dangerous conditions were abated renders any other
potential citation regarding the sane area noot.

Respondent's argument is that the previous citation issued
by M. Mnis for the failure to provide a safety belt on the
cycl one was abated by the respondent when it provided the
required safety belt or line. Since the inspector was concerned
about the hazardous location at the top | evel of the cycl one,
respondent maintains that by providing a safety belt, that
sonehow el i m nated the hazardous condition, and that it is
patently unfair to cite the respondent a second tinme for the
i dentical hazardous condition. Aside fromthe fact that the
respondent does not believe that the cited conditions were
hazar dous or dangerous, respondent considers the condition
descri bed by the inspector as one single assertedly hazardous
condition, and in effect argues that to cite the respondent for
two separate violations places himin jeopardy twi ce for the
i dentical single condition.

Respondent asserted that when he discussed the matter with
an MSHA conference officer, he was told that the reason two
citations were issued was that the inspector was concerned wth
the I ack of safety belts at the very top of the cyclone, and the
| ack of substantial work platforns at the | ower levels of the
cyclone. 1In short, respondent was advised that two citations
were i ssued because of the fact that two dangerous conditions
were presented (Tr. 27-35).

Respondent maintains that it was led to believe that safety
belts were required at the top location of the cyclone, and its
position is that if a safety belt suffices to protect soneone at
the top, it surely should be acceptable at the two | ower |evels.
Since I nspector Manis was concerned about the entire cycl one
structure when he issued citation 099125, the use of safety belts
at all three levels which concerned hi mshould suffice as
conpliance. In short, respondent argues that the
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use of safety belts precludes the need for the installation of
work platfornms. The theory of respondent's case is stated as
follows at pg. 41 of the hearing transcript:

MR JAMSON:. | do. M. Manis has testified, however,
that this citation 099125 is the whole cycl one area,
top to bottom-- top, mddle, and bottom

JUDGE KQUTRAS: That's right.

MR JAMSON: So if safety belts suffice for safety at
the top level, surely they suffice for safety at the
m ddl e or bottom| evel.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Are you suggesting if you use a safety
belt, you don't need platforns?

MR JAM SON:  Yes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: \What you're saying, in other words, if
you have a safety belt and there's no requirenent that
you have scaffolds and working platforns, et cetera, et
cetera?

MR, JAM SON: Based on the reasoni ng behind there being
two citations to start wth.

MSHA' s interpretation of the requirenents of section
56.11-27, was succintly stated by its counsel at pages 42, and
44-45 of the transcript. MSHA's position is that work platforns
of the type required by the standard were required to be
installed at those |ocations on the cycl one where the respondent
had placed the 2 x 6 boards. Once the installation of work
platforns is conplete, respondent would be expected to use the
platforns while performng regular or frequent work or
mai nt enance on the cyclone at those |ocations. However, in those
areas on the cycl one where sporadic or infrequent work or
mai nt enance i s performed, respondent may use safety belts or
lines in lieu of constructing platfornms. 1In addition, during the
time that a work platformis being constructed, respondent woul d
be expected to use safety belts or lines until such tine as the
pl atform construction is conpl et ed.

| take note of the fact that the witten description of the
condition or practice cited by the inspector on the face of the
citation, when read together with the abatenent or term nation
notice i ssued by another inspector, conveys the clear inpression
that the inspector was concerned with only one hazardous | ocation
on the cyclone structure, nanely the top level. During the
course of the hearing, respondent asserted that it was unaware of
the fact that inspector Manis was concerned with three |ocations
on the cyclone, and respondent indicated further that during
several discussions with MSHA's office of assessnments and the
solicitor's office, he was led to believe that the use of safety
belts at the top location of the cyclone was sufficient for
conpl i ance
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MSHA' s counsel candidly conceded that he had di scussed the
matter with the respondent in advance of the hearing and that he
enphasi zed the fact that the frequency and nature of the work
required at any cyclone | ocation would dictate whether a platform
or safety belt was required for conpliance (Tr. 47). Counse
pointed out that in this case, it was his understanding that
respondent installed platforns at all three cyclone levels and
has al so provided safety belts for the other areas where
enpl oyees were required to work (Tr. 48). Respondent conceded
that he installed the platforns because there are tinmes when
there are nore enpl oyees present then there are belts (Tr. 51).

VWil e there may have been sonme confusion as to precisely
what was required to achieve conpliance in this case, | believe
that the confusion canme after the time the inspector issued the
citation for the lack of platfornms and safety belts. M/ analysis
of the testinony of Inspector Manis in support of the citation in
guestion |l eads ne to conclude that he was concerned with two
di stinct hazards when he issued the two citations. His first
concern was that the respondent was using 2 x 6 wooden pl anks as
a work platform and since the planks were not securely in place
and | acked handrails, he obviously believed they did not neet the
requi renents of section 56.11-27, and presented a hazard to
anyone standing on themwhile perform ng work at the cycl one
| ocati ons which he testified about. An additional concern was the
fact that he believed enpl oyees had at sone tinme been at the top
of the cyclone without a belt because he saw no evi dence that
belts were being used or located on the cyclone at the tine of
his inspection. Respondent stated that he did not discuss the
situation with I nspector Manis at the tine the citations issued,
and that all of the subsequent conversations and di scussions
concerning the two citations came at later times during the
i nformal conferences with MSHA officials (Tr. 51).

Section 110(a) provides that "each occurrence of a violation
of a mandatory health or safety standard may constitute a
separate offense”. Accordingly, it seens clear to nme that any
condition or practice found by an inspector during the course of
an inspection may constitute a violation of one or nore nmandatory
standards if the conditions cited warrant such a conclusion. On
the facts presented in this case it seens clear to ne that
I nspector Manis intended to cite the respondent for a violation
of section 56.11-27 on the basis of his conclusion that the
respondent failed to install the required working platforns in
guestion. The fact that he also, at the sane tinme, cited the
respondent for failing to provide safety belts where there was a
danger of falling, does not render the platformcitation illega
or inproper. Respondent had an opportunity to chall enge the
safety belt citation but decided to pay the assessnent for that
citation. Any confusion which may have resulted with respect to
the application of sections 56.11-27 and 56.15-5, occurred after
the citations issued and during the conferences held on the
proposed assessnents.
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As | observed during the hearing, the conditions cited by
I nspector Manis on the face of the citation which he issued do
not include the fact that he was concerned with three distinct
unprotected areas of the cyclone in question. Further, the
abatement and term nation notice reflects that a wal kway wth
handrails was installed at the top area of the cyclone. After
consi deration of the testinony and evi dence presented by the
parties, | find that the mddle |evel which concerned the
i nspector was not used as a work platform Respondent's evidence
that it was used only to facilitate the storage of a wench and
other tools and MSHA has not rebutted this fact. Under the
circunstances, if that were the only location cited or testified
to by the inspector I would have to vacate the citation. As for
the ower and top levels, the evidence establishes that work was
performed fromthose | ocations and while the gravity of the
citation insofar as the lower |level is concerned may not have
been as great as that which prevailed at the very top of the
cyclone, the fact is that petitioner's evidence establishes that
both [ evels were unprotected. Accordingly, |I conclude and find
that petitioner has established a violation of section 56.11-27,
and the citation is AFFI RVED

Si ze of Business and Effect of the Penalty on Respondent's
Ability to Continue in Business.

I conclude and find that the respondent is a small-to-nmedi um
si zed operator and absent any evidence to the contrary, which has
not been forthcom ng, | cannot conclude that the civil penalty
assessed by ne for the citation in question will adversely affect
respondent's ability to continue in business.

H story of Prior Violations

Exhibit P-1, reflects that respondent has paid civil penalty
assessnments for 18 prior citations issued during the period
Novenmber 20, 1978, through Novenber 19, 1980, and there are no
repeat violations of section 56.11-27. Considering the size of
respondent's mining operation, | cannot conclude that this
history of prior citations warrants any increase in the penalty
assessed by ne for the citation which I have affirnmed.

Good Faith Conpliance

The evi dence adduced in this case establishes that the
respondent achi eved conpliance by constructing protective working
platforns on the cyclone in question. Accordingly, |I find that
respondent exercised normal good faith conpliance in abating the
condi tions cited.

Negl i gence

Petitioner established that the respondent has another
simlar cyclone in operation on its property and introduced a
phot ograph of that cyclone, which clearly shows that a permanent
work platformis
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in place around the entire structure (exhibit P-4). Respondent
asserted that this cycl one was constructed sonme 20 years ago, and
that since it is located in the m ddle and above four |arge
coned-shaped bins, it presents a hazard of someone falling

bet ween the bins straight down to a concrete wal kway. This is
the reason why a platformwas installed (Tr. 54).

Respondent recogni zed the hazardous | ocation of the "ol d"
cyclone and that is the reason it constructed a pernmanent type
working platformat that location. |Its failure to provide
simlar protection for the cyclone cited in this case was based
on its conclusion that it was not hazardous or dangerous. VWile
this conclusion on the respondent's part may be true for the
lowest or third |l evel of the cyclone, | believe that the
respondent shoul d have been aware of the fact that the very top
| ocation of the cyclone which was accessible by the fixed | adder
presented a hazard when enpl oyees were required to go there to
perf orm mai nt enance or other work. Since the evidence
establishes that this was not an infrequent occurrence | concl ude
that respondent failed to exercise reasonable care to prevent the
condition cited by the inspector at that l|ocation. Accordingly,

I find that the citation resulted fromordinary negligence by the
respondent.

Gavity

I nspect or Mani s believed that anyone falling fromany of the
cyclone | ocations depicted in the photographi c exhibits would
likely strike the hard ground bel ow and sustain serious injuries.
Respondent disputed this fact and asserted that while one falling
fromthe very top of the structure fifty feet below to hard
ground woul d likely suffer fatal injuries, if he fell fromthe
lower third level, he would likely suffer no injuries since he
woul d fall into soft sand froma very short distance (Tr. 25).

M. Manis also testified that at the tine he issued the
citation in question, he observed no one on the structure, that
there were no safety belts on the cyclone, and soneone told him
that none were on the prem ses, but he did not |ook for any (Tr.
58). Further, while he indicated that there were sand piles
present on three sides of the unprotected cycl one, one side did
not contain a sand pile below, and if an enployee fell fromthe
very top of the cyclone to the ground |evel below sonme fifty
feet, he would likely suffer serious injuries.

I conclude that the failure to install the work platform
called for by the cited safety standard in question presented a
serious situation which could have resulted in injuries in the
event sonme one fell fromthe top of the structure. O course
the severity of any injuries would depend on the particular facts

and circunstances presented at any given tine. | believe that an
unprotected area of the cyclone where nmen were required to work
presented a serious condition. Accordingly, |I find that the

citation cited was serious.
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Penalty Assessnent and Order

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirenments of section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude and find that a civil penalty in the anount of
$125 is reasonable and appropriate for Citation No. 099125, June
12, 1980, 30 CFR 56.11-27, and respondent is ORDERED to pay the
penalty assessed within thirty (30) days of the date of this
deci si on.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



